FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/16/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100085-5

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/16/2021 1:47 PM

No. 81406-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

A. IDENTITY OF PETTITIONERS

3320 MLK, LLC, Carl Raymond Haglund, 2023 24th Ave, LLC, Claremont Properties, LLC, Columbia City Condos-Owaha, LLC, Columbia City Condos-Kenny, LLC; Columbia City Condos-Coral Reef #1, LLC, Columbia City Condos-Coral Reef #2, LLC, My Big Chinese Rooster Investment Company, LLC, Big Rooster Investments, LLC, Columbia Modern Living, LLC, I Street, LLC, Seward Park, LLC, 2910 S. Byron, LLC, 3320 Micro, LLC, 398 Farrar, LLC, 5949 36, LLC, and 5002 Rose, LLC (hereafter "Haglund") are the petitioners seeking review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review identified in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I of the Court of Appeals filed its decision affirming a trial court order on summary judgment on July 19, 2021. A copy of that decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-20.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where a client's attorney failed to timely file a supersedeas bond, permitting a judgment creditor to establish RCW 25.15.256 charging order liens against all of the LLC properties owned by the client to the client's detriment, did the trial court err in concluding that the client failed to establish the harm element of his professional negligence claim or fiduciary duty claim?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion sets out the facts and procedure in this case.

Op. at 1-7. That recitation is largely correct, but several facts bear emphasis.

Attorney Brandon Gribben of the Helsell Fetterman law firm ("Helsell") failed to properly handle the trial of an action brought against Carl Haglund and 3320 MLK, LLC by Pacific 500, resulting in a more than \$1.147 million judgment against them. Stephanie Bloomfield, Haglund's highly experienced expert, CP 591-97, testified that Gribben failed to timely submit his list of witnesses for trial, did not conduct necessary discovery, and failed to follow up on key witnesses, whose testimony would have been favorable to Haglund. CP 600-02. Those witnesses' testimony was excluded by the court as a result of their tardy disclosure by Gribben. CP 600-01. At trial, she opined that Gribben's cross-examination of witnesses at trial was also ineffective because he had not obtained their depositions. CP 602.

That trial-related poor performance was exacerbated by Gribben's inexplicable failure to file a supersedeas bond to stay enforcement of the judgment that resulted in RCW 25.15.256 charging orders being established against other LLCs (the other petitioners here) owed by

Petition for Review - 2

While Haglund believes that Division I's treatment of his legal malpractice/breach of fiduciary duty claims against Helsell for Gribben's inexplicably poor performance at trial was erroneous, its petition to this Court focuses on the supersedeas issue.

Haglund.

The trial court entered a judgment on June 29, 2017 against Haglund and 3320 MLK, LLC. CP 684-747. Under the timelines set forth in CR 62(a) and CR 6(a) for stays of enforcement of a judgment, Pacific 5000 could not have commenced execution proceedings in connection with the judgment until *after* Monday, July 10, 2017. CP 605. On Friday, July 7, 2017, Haglund obtained a \$1.525 million supersedeas bond from Travelers Casualty and Surety Company to prevent Pacific 5000 from executing on its judgment. CP 759-60.

Overlooked by Division I in its opinion is the fact that between June 29 and July 7, Haglund *repeatedly* reminded Gribben of the importance of posting the supersedeas bond and of his worry that the bond must not be filed late. CP 662-63, 797-810. On July 7, Haglund hand delivered the supersedeas bond to Gribben for filing with the Pierce County Superior Court. CP 760. Still on that same day, July 7, Gribben sent an email to Haglund at 12:09 p.m. in which he acknowledged having received the bond, stating: "Bond looks good. I should be around after 2:30 p.m. to discuss." CP 664, 798. Inexplicably, Gribben, did not file the supersedeas bond *until five days later*, on Wednesday, July 12, 2017. CP 749-52, 760, 767-69. Gribben never told Haglund that he was not promptly filing the bond. CP 602. Helsell *conceded* in discovery

responses and deposition testimony that Gribben had no explanation for his delay in filing and serving the supersedeas bond. CP 662, 780, 787 ("Defendants do not recall why the supersedeas bond was not filed prior to July 12, 2017."). Gribben did not communicate the existence of the supersedeas bond to Pacific 5000's counsel until either July 12 or 13, 2017. CP 793. Helsell conceded that the bond was not timely filed. Resp'ts br. at 10.

On Tuesday, July 11, 2017, during the interim period between his receipt of the supersedeas bond on Friday, July 7, and Gribben's filing of the bond on July 12, Pacific 5000 obtained a charging order *ex parte* under RCW 25.15.256 against 18 of Haglund's LLCs. CP 760, 771-74. The charging order prevented the Haglund LLCs subject to it from closing any pending or proposed real estate transactions and interfered with Haglund's business interests, including but not limited to his interests in the LLCs; Fidelity National Title, Haglund's title insurer as to a transaction involving one of the affected LLCs, would not close the transaction because of the charging order. CP 603, 1019-29.

A point omitted from Division I's opinion was Gribben's decided and intentional lack of knowledge of charging orders. Gribben testified that prior to receiving the charging order on July 14, he had not seen a charging order and was not sure whether he understood the ramifications of a charging order. CP 660. Notwithstanding his own lack of understanding about charging orders, he did not consult with attorneys in his own firm or others about them. *Id.* Gribben conceded that he was aware that real estate developers "certainly create LLCs" and had seen the use of single project limited liability companies "many times," *id.*, and acknowledged that Haglund had "mentioned other [real estate] projects" and recalled Haglund emailing him prior to expiration of the bonding period that Haglund had over \$150,000,000 in real estate projects in place. CP 660-61, 809.

Gribben eventually filed the bond several days past the deadline, but the damage was done. The charging order remained in place, clouding title to Haglund's LLCs' properties and preventing Haglund from conducting important real estate transactions. CP 602-03, 1019-29. Despite Bloomfield's efforts as successor counsel to Helsell, CP 596, Haglund was unable to remove the charging order, and, therefore, he was forced to drop his appeal and satisfy the outstanding judgment, so that his business transactions could proceed. *Id.* The charging order was vacated only *after* the satisfaction of the judgment. CP 325-27.

Bloomfield documented the harm caused by Gribben's inexcusable failure to timely file the bond and prevent the charging order from issuing:

In late 2017, Haglund had real estate transactions involving these separate LLC's that he wished to close. However, due to the plaintiff's charging order Fidelity National Title would not allow the deals to close. Haglund attempted to obtain court relief to vacate the charging order without success. Plaintiff in the underlying matter was unwilling to enter a stipulation that would allow the transactions to close. Thus, Haglund had no reasonable choice but to forego his appeal and pay the judgment so as not to lose the sales he had negotiated. There was no reasonable alternative that would allow his real estate transactions to close.

CP 603. This harm to Haglund was occasioned by Gribben's breach of the standard of care and his fiduciary duty to Haglund. CP 605 ("Gribben's failure to file the supersedeas bond within the 10 day window allowed the Plaintiff to obtain a charging order that prevented Haglund from closing real estate transactions involving property owned by the LLCs subject to the charging order.").

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED²

² Division I correctly articulates the standard of review on summary judgment, op. at 8, but overlooks an important factor applicable here. When expert opinions come to differing conclusions on a key issue, that creates a plain issue of fact for the jury. *E.g., Intalco Aluminum v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 66 Wn. App. 644, 662, 833 P.2d 390 (1992), *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1031 (1993) (holding that such cases present "a classic battle of the experts, a battle in which the jury must decide the victor.") (quoting *Ferebee v. Chevron Chem. Co.*, 736 F.2d 1529, 1535, *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 1062 (D.C. Cir. 1984)). *See also, Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890, 900, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010); *Bowers v. Marzano*, 170 Wn. App 498, 290 P.3d 134 (2012) (experts in disagreement on cause of auto crash); *Advanced Health Care, Inc. v. Guscott*, 173 Wn. App. 857, 295 P.3d 816 (2013) (differing opinions in medical negligence action as to cause of patient's injury); *C.L. v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 200 Wn. App. 189, 200, 402 P.3d 346 (2017), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1023 (2019) ("In general, when experts offer competing, apparently competent evidence, summary judgment is inappropriate.").

At the core of this case is the question of attorneys' competent handling of supersedeas, Title 8 RAP. The Court has only rarely addressed supersedeas issues, and the effect of charging orders under RCW 25.15 is a question of first impression.³ The practicing bar and the public would benefit from the Court addressing those issues. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(1) <u>Division I Erred in Deciding Malpractice as a Matter of</u> Law

Initially, Division I repeated the trial court's error in concluding that Helsell owed no duty to the 18 Haglund LLCs affected by its negligence in connection with its failure to timely file the supersedeas bond here. Op. at 13 n.7. As will be noted *infra*, this is not a *duty* issue, but a *damages* issue. Compounding that misperception, the court upheld Helsell's blatant failure to post the bond by claiming that Helsell's *post-hoc* agreement with Pacific 500's counsel not to enforce the judgment and Haglund's inability to close real estate transactions relating to LLC property sustained a determination on summary judgment that Haglund

Petition for Review - 7

³ Charging orders are not commonly understood. As the Kansas Supreme Court observed in *City of Arkansas City v. Anderson*, 752 P.2d 673, 682 (Kans. 1988) in connection with a charging order under the Uniform Partnership Act "there are few cases and very little authority on the actual procedure to be followed in enforcing a charging order."

was not harmed as a matter of law. Op. at 14.⁴ Division I was wrong, particularly on summary judgment where all facts, and reasonable inferences from those facts, must be interpreted in a light most favorable *to Haglund*, not Helsell.

In a legal malpractice action, a plaintiff must prove the traditional elements of a negligence claim – duty, breach of that duty, harm, and proximate causation between the breach and the harm. *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 181 Wn.2d 661, 665, 335 P.3d 424 (2004); *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 481-82, 114 P.3d 637 (2005); *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wn.2d 251, 260-61, 830 P.2d 646 (1992). Regarding causation, a plaintiff must establish the so-called "case within a case," *i.e.* that the client would have prevailed or improved upon his/her position but for the attorney's negligence. *Daugert v. Pappas*, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257-58, 704 P.2d 600 (1985). In specific, the client must have "fared better" but for the attorney's professional negligence. *Id.* at 257; *Auer v. Leach*, 190 Wn. App. 1043, 2015 WL 6506549 at *10 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1024 (2016).

First, Haglund had an attorney-client relationship with Helsell, given his reasonable subjective belief that it existed. *Dietz v. Doe*, 131

⁴ And, moreover, Division I ignores the fees charged both by Helsell and Bloomfield Haglund needlessly incurred to undo Helsell's negligence.

Wn.2d 835, 843-44, 935 P.2d 611 (1977); *In re Disciplinary Proceedings Against McGlothlen*, 99 Wn.2d 515, 522, 663 P.2d 1330 (1983); *Schmidt*, 181 Wn.2d at 665. As of mid-October 2016, and certainly no later than Helsell's appearance in the *Pacific 5000* litigation on October 31, 2016, *Helsell represented Haglund and 3320 MLK, LLC* and continued to do so through the time that Gribben missed the supersedeas deadline, thus causing the charging order to issue against Haglund's other LLCs.

Based on Helsell's argument, the trial court may have confused the duty Helsell owed to Haglund with a duty owed to the various Haglund LLCs against which charging orders were issued. CP 45-46, 51-52. Division I repeated this ostensible error failing to recognize that the argument is not so much a duty issue, as it was a damages issue.⁵ The

⁵ Even if this were a duty issue, Helsell owed a duty to those LLCs under *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d 357, 835 P.2d 71 (1992) and *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994) in any event. Under the *Trask* factors for a duty to third parties:

id. at 842, Helsell owed the LLCs a duty of care. Helsell knew that the supersedeas was important to protect Haglund's real estate transactions. It was a foreseeable and certain result of Helsell's negligence that Pacific 500 would seek to collect on the judgment, including causing charging orders to issue against his LLCs. That is precisely why Haglund repeatedly insisted that Gribben file the bond in a timely fashion. A lawyer

⁽¹⁾ the extent to which the transaction was intended to benefit the plaintiff;

⁽²⁾ the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff;

⁽³⁾ the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury;

⁽⁴⁾ the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury;

⁽⁵⁾ the policy of preventing future harm; and

⁽⁶⁾ the extent to which the profession would be unduly burdened by a finding of liability.

point is: Helsell owed Carl Haglund/3320 MLK LLC a duty and Haglund was harmed by the charging order's effect on the 18 LLCs he owned. Haglund was foreseeably harmed by Helsell's negligence in failing to prevent enforcement of the judgment, as Gribben himself admitted. CP 660-61, 809.

Helsell breached its duty to Haglund when Gribben failed to timely file the supersedeas bond.⁶ The failure to file a supersedeas bond is like the failure to file a notice of appeal. That failure is plain malpractice. It did not even require an expert to establish breach; rather, the trial court acts as the appellate court in determining the impact of the breach of duty upon the client. Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 258-59.

The same analysis applicable to a failure to timely file a notice of

must understand the clear procedural rules and deadlines of CR 62 and RAP 8.1, and should be versed in them to prevent future, foreseeable harm from occurring, as Bloomfield testified. CP 605 ("A Washington attorney would be expected to be familiar with the timeline for bonding a judgment.").

Petition for Review - 10

⁶ Gribben's failure to timely file the bond not only implicates his ethical duty to be competent per RPC 1.1, it clearly implicates his duty under RPC 1.3 which provides: "A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client." Comment [3] to the rule is clear: "Perhaps no professional shortcoming is more widely resented than procrastination. A client's interests often can be adversely affected by the passage of time or the change of conditions; in extreme instances, as when a lawyer overlooks a statute of limitations, the client's legal position may be destroyed. Even when the client's interests are not affected, in substance, unreasonable delay can cause a client needless anxiety and undermine confidence in the lawyer's trustworthiness."

⁷ Here, of course, Haglund had extensive expert testimony documenting that the standard of care required the filing of a bond, CP 605, and that Gribben breached the standard in failing to file it, id., and then misleading Haglund about it. CP 606.

appeal applies when the malpractice is the failure to file a claim within the statute of limitations or to timely file a supersedeas bond. *Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson*, 100 Wn. App. 584, 999 P.2d 42, *review denied*, 141 Wn.2d 1016 (2000) (statute of limitations). In such instances, the "cause in fact inquiry becomes whether the frustrated client would have been successful if the attorney had timely filed the appeal." *Id.* at 258. This is a *question of law* for the court. This present case is precisely one where the trier of fact must "engage in an analysis of the law." The trial court needed to analyze the precise effect of Gribben's failure to timely file the supersedeas bond on Haglund's interests, but it did not do so, particularly where it declined to reveal its analysis.

Finally, at a minimum, Haglund proved harm.⁸ Under RAP 8.1(b), a timely filing of the bond stayed enforcement of the trial court's judgment.⁹ Gribben was obligated to understand the supersedeas process as well as the law of charging orders, as Haglund's expert, Bloomfield,

⁸ Division I seems to imply that Haglund bore the burden on summary judgment of proving the quantum of his damages rather than the existence of harm from Helsell's negligence. Op. at 15. That is not so. Haglund met his burden of proving the fact of harm from Helsell's negligence. The amount of damages is for the jury. *Abawi v. Qureshi*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1012, 2020 WL 4596297 (2020), *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d 1038 (2021) at *8 ("... with regard to the damages element, to defeat summary judgment, [the plaintiff] was required to present evidence of the *fact* of damages caused by the defendant's conduct, not the amount of damages.") (court's emphasis).

⁹ E.g., Ryan v. Plath, 18 Wn.2d 839, 855, 140 P.2d 968 (1943) ("The purpose of a supersedeas bond is to stay further proceedings in the superior court..."); Guest v. Lange, 195 Wn. App. 330, 338, 381 P.3d 130 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1011 (2017) ("...when a supersedeas bond is filed, the judgment cannot be enforced.").

opined. CP 605.

By failing to timely file the bond, Helsell allowed for the issuance of charging orders authorized under RCW 25.15.256 against *all* of Carl Haglund's LLCs. CP 605. *Haglund* was harmed by the charging orders directed to the other LLCs, as Bloomfield testified. CP 603. This harm to Haglund was occasioned by Gribben's breach. CP 605 ("Gribben's failure to file the supersedeas bond within the 10 day window allowed the Plaintiff to obtain a charging order that prevented Haglund from closing real estate transactions involving property owned by the LLCs subject to the charging order.").

Division I's belief that causation could not be established because Helsell negotiated a deal with opposing counsel in the *Pacific 5000* litigation that they would not enforce the judgment against Haglund and 3320 MLK LLC for the duration of the appeal, op. at 14, does not obviate the charging order's harm to Haglund.¹⁰

Division I misunderstood the legal impact of the RCW 25.15.256 charging order. A judgment clearly constitutes a lien against the real estate of the judgment debtor. RCW 4.56.190; *Hartley v. Liberty Park Associates*, 54 Wn. App. 434, 437, 774 P.2d 40, *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d

¹⁰ And, in any event, Helsell's alleged mitigation of Haglund's harm does not vitiate the causation element.

1013 (1989). The entry of the judgment against Haglund and 3320 MLK, LLC constituted a lien against real property he or his LLC owned. *But the entry of judgment did not constitute a lien against any of the other Haglund LLCs*. RCW 25.15.126(1) (*see* Appendix) makes clear that any LLC debts are those of the LLC and *not* its members. RCW 25.15.256 creates a process by which the transferable interests of an LLC member may be subjected by court order to a charging order for payment of the *unsatisfied* amount of a judgment. RCW 25.15.256(2) makes that order a lien against the LLC member's transferable interest in the LLC.¹¹

Moreover, the effect of the charging order was not barred by the Pacific 5000's alleged agreement with Haglund not to enforce the judgment or even the tardy filing of the supersedeas bond. In *Guest, supra*, for example, the filing of a supersedeas bond did not prevent the application of a collateral statutory scheme, there, the *lis pendens* statutes, designed to establish what amounted to a lien against a debtor's property interest. Thus, even if Pacific 5000 could not enforce the judgment as to Haglund himself or 3320 MLK, LLC as a result of the belated filing of the supersedeas bond or the agreement between Helsell and the Pacific 5000's

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