FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/13/2021 12:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100085-5 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 814061

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

3320 MLK, LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company; Carl Raymond Haglund, et. al.,

Appellants.

v.

HELSELL FETTERMAN, LLP a Washington Limited Liability Partnership, and BRANDON S. GRIBBEN, Individual and on Behalf of the Marital Community Comprised of BRANDON GRIBBEN and JANE DOE GRIBBEN,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Ryan T. Pittman, WSBA No. 57560 Of Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Supreme Court review of a Court of Appeals decision requires a "compelling need" to address matters that are of substantial public interest.

Supreme Court review of a Court of Appeals decision is an extraordinary step. Indeed, there must be a "compelling need" for this Court to decide an issue presented. *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* § 27.11 (1998).

Nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Mr. Haglund to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state.

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of Failure to show the court the "big the time. picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Id. (italics in original).

Mr. Haglund asserted grounds for Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) only. He does not offer any argument in

support of any other basis for this court to accept review. Mr. Haglund therefore concedes that review is not warranted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (3). Accordingly, this Court should accept a petition for review **only** "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- B. The Court of Appeals' decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished and has no precedential value.

First, as a practical matter, the Court of Appeals' decision is unpublished. Therefore, the decision cannot conflict with any other decision because, by its very nature, it is not precedent. GR 14.1(a); RCW 2.06.040; *State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 668, 491 P.2d 262 (1971). Even though GR 14.1(a) permits citation to unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals, the rule is clear that "[u]npublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court." This unpublished decision does not –

and cannot – substantially affect the public interest because the unpublished opinion does not become a part of the common law of the State of Washington. "No matter how well reasoned, unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals lack precedential value, in part because they merely restate well established principles." *State v. Nysta*, 168 Wn. App. 30, 44, 275 P.3d 1162, 1170 (2012) (citing GR 14.1(a)). Indeed, even if the Court of Appeals incorrectly decided the matter, there is no possibility that the Court of Appeals' decision creates supposedly bad precedent; it cannot and will not dictate the outcome of any other litigation.

2. This action is a private dispute between private parties and involves no substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) that would warrant Supreme Court review.

Mr. Haglund has the burden of persuading the Court that its petition involves an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because "the issue is recurring in nature or impacts a large number of persons." *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* at § 27.11.

As discussed, by its very nature, an unpublished decision cannot affect anyone except the parties to that specific case.

Nevertheless, assuming that one could establish a substantial public interest arising from an unpublished opinion, this Court has considered what constitutes an issue of public interest:

The criteria to be considered in determining whether sufficient public interest is involved are: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented; (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) the likelihood that the question will recur.

Dept. of Ecology v. Adsit, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985); Sorenson v. City of Bellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). An issue that meets these criteria almost always implicates constitutional principles or the validity of legislative enactments. In re Myers, 105 Wn.2d 257, 714 P.2d 303 (1986); Gen. Tel. Co. of the Northwest, Inc. v. City of Bothell, 105 Wn.2d 597, 716 P.2d 879 (1986); Adsit, 103 Wn.2d at 705; State ex rel. Chapman v. Superior Court, 15 Wn.2d 637, 642-43, 131 P.2d 958 (1942); State ex rel. Yakima

Amusement Co. v. Yakima County, 192 Wash. 179, 73 P.2d 759 (1937).

This case is a private action between private parties. Even if the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision somehow could affect anyone but Mr. Haglund, his request for discretionary review still does not present a question that (1) is public in nature, (2) affects the conduct of governmental officers, or (3) recurs. Further, Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) usually presents a constitutional or statutory issue, but Mr. Haglund's petition fails to address any such issue, and this case does not remotely involve one.

Instead, Mr. Haglund's entire stated basis for Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is contained in two sentences:

The Court has only rarely addressed supersedeas issues, and the effect of charging orders under RCW 25.15 is a question of first impression. The practicing bar and the public would benefit from the Court addressing those issues.

Petition for Review at 7.

Even if Mr. Haglund were correct that this Court rarely addresses the effect of supersedeas bonds and charging orders in legal-malpractice cases, that fact undermines rather than supports his Petition for Review. It suggests that the issue arises only rarely and therefore does not present any "compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally." Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998). Mr. Haglund provides no proof that Supreme Court review would "benefit" the public. He offers no proof that litigation abounds as to the effect of supersedeas bonds or charging orders, or that Washington courts require any guidance on the subject. Mr. Haglund cites no professional-negligence actions involving supersedeas bonds or charging orders. Mr. Haglund not only fails to show this is public in nature, he also fails to show whether it has even recurred even once. He offers zero support for his sweeping conclusion that the "practicing bar and the public" would benefit from such review. See Petition at 7.

He merely seeks de novo review of an unpublished Court of Appeals opinion that he does not like.

Accordingly, this Court should deny discretionary review because Mr. Haglund fails to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Mr. Haglund failed to prove, as he must, that Mr. Gribben's conduct regarding the charging order harmed him.

Mr. Haglund's remaining allegation on appeal is that he suffered harm as a result of Mr. Gribben's late filing of the supersedes bond. However, Mr. Haglund never presented proof to the trial court that the charging orders or Mr. Gribben's handling of them caused any harm at all. Based on this complete failure of proof of harm, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Mr. Gribben's late filing of the supersedeas bond was not the proximate cause of damages to Mr. Haglund where: (1) Mr. Haglund showed no evidence of damages as a result of the charging orders, and (2) Mr. Haglund lost no opportunity to improve his damages on appeal.

Regardless of whether Mr. Gribben met the standard of care in this matter — he did — Mr. Haglund's own misconduct sealed his fate in the Underlying Action and the mere presence of charging orders does not mean that harmed occurred.

4. The charging order liens were never enforced against Mr. Haglund's LLCs.

Immediately after the charging order was filed, Mr. Gribben filed the supersedeas bond and exchanged emails with counsel for Pacific 5000 to confirm that no further collection efforts would be taken. CP 214. Ultimately, approximately seven months later, the charging orders were vacated upon stipulation of the parties. CP 320-323. As Mr. Gribben and Pacific 5000's counsel had agreed previously, no collection activity occurred while the charging orders were in effect. CP 214. Even if enforcement of the charging orders possibly could cause harm to Mr. Haglund, this mere possibility never came to pass. Nor was that mere possibility enough to prove that Mr. Haglund in fact suffered harm. He did not.

While Mr. Haglund pointed to information regarding the properties held under the relevant LLCs in his declaration, there is no evidence of activities that would have been adversely affected by the presence of the charging orders. CP 1019-29. Mr. Haglund admits that there were no collection efforts made, and he failed to show proof of any offers or plans to sell the listed properties with which the charging order actually interfered. CP 535, CP 1019-29.

Additionally, there is no evidence that removal of the charging orders was a priority because Ms. Bloomfield showed no urgency in removing the July 11, 2018 charging orders. Mr. Gribben was removed as counsel approximately one month after the charging orders were filed, with Ms. Bloomfield substituting as counsel for Mr. Haglund in the Underlying Matter. Despite this, it was not until February 14, 2018, more than six months after beginning her representation of Mr. Haglund, that Ms. Bloomfield made any attempt to vacate the charging order. CP 320-323. This failure to take action to

remove the charging order for over seven months provides further support that Mr. Haglund did not experience harm as a result of the mere existence of the charging orders.

Mr. Gribben's expert Keith Petrak found no evidence that the existence of the charging orders caused harm to Mr. Haglund. CP 1065-80. Mr. Haglund's unproven allegation of harm was that he was unable to use an LLC to acquire an additional property. Based on Mr. Petrak's expertise, he questioned the validity of Mr. Haglund's undocumented claim because the charging order should only prevent the transfer of funds from the LLC to Mr. Haglund, not the transfer of additional assets into the LLC. CP 1073-74. Ultimately, Mr. Petrak found that "no transactions on the properties were currently in process nor reasonably contemplated." CP 1072. Therefore, no actual harm was caused by the presence of the charging orders. CP 1065-80.

The Court of Appeals, even assuming that there may have been deals that had been negotiated, still held that Mr.

Haglund had failed to show evidence of harm. A-15. The only evidence before the Court of Appeals showed that Mr. Haglund ultimately got the charging orders dismissed. A-15. There was no proof of any agreed upon transactions that had failed due to the charging order, or any proof of financial damages as a result of any delay that may have been caused by the charging orders. To the extent the charging order represented a potential harm to Mr. Haglund, this was resolved without any damages to Mr. Haglund. A-15. Therefore, Mr. Haglund "has not offered evidence of any financial losses caused by the charging order applies to those sales or his other LLC interests." A-15.

Because Mr. Haglund provided no proof of financial or other losses caused by the charging orders, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected any argument that the mere presence of the charging orders, without more, resulted in any harm to Mr. Haglund.

5. Mr. Haglund failed to show that he would have improved his position on appeal of the Underlying Action.

Without proof of financial loss, Mr. Haglund may only prove harm if he would have done better on appeal but for Mr. Gribben's alleged negligence.

Here, even if Mr. Haglund had been able to present his entire proposed defense, and each of the key witnesses and evidence had been admitted in the Underlying Action, there is no proof that Mr. Haglund would have fared better on the trespass claim. In his deposition Mr. Haglund, admitted that he entered the Pacific 5000 building without permission, prior to purchasing the note on the property and while knowing that he lacked the authorization to enter the premises. CR 408-17. He could not state what specific testimony of the excluded witnesses would have defeated the trespass claim; he offered only the conclusory speculation that "the totality of all the witnesses" would have caused a different result. CP 536-43.

In the motion for reconsideration in the Underlying

Action, Judge Nelson denied Mr. Haglund's motion, finding that "if the evidence contained in Mr. Haglund's declaration were admitted, it would not alter the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law." CP 286.

Significantly, Mr. Haglund's Petition for Review identifies no proof that, even if Mr. Haglund had defeated the trespass claim, he would have fared better in the Underlying Action. Mr. Haglund would have this Court ignore that he was also found liable for a litany of other wrongs, not just for trespass. The trial court in the Underlying Action held that Mr. Haglund was liable under theories of (1) trespass, (2) fraud, (3) breach of contract, (4) violations of the Consumer Protection Act, (5) slander of title, (6) tortious interference with business relationships, (7) civil conspiracy, and (8) waste by landlord or tenant under RCW 4.24.630. CP 198-200. Because the court held Mr. Haglund liable under seven causes of action against Mr. Haglund other than trespass, he failed to prove that he would have fared better in the Underlying Action. The record

on review shows that he still would have been held liable to Pacific 5000 for the same amount of damages due to Pacific 5000's loss of equity in the building.

Perhaps the most important of the causes of action Mr. Haglund lost in the Underlying Action was the conspiracy in restraint of trade under RCW 19.86.090. Pacific 5000 was awarded damages in the amount of \$313,447.21, which was trebled under two separate theories of recovery, both intentional trespass under RCW 4.24.630 and conspiracy in restraint of trade under RCW 19.86.090. CP 198-200. Therefore, even if Mr. Haglund had defeated the trespass claim, he would have still been liable to Pacific 5000 under the remaining seven claims, and those damages would have been trebled under the conspiracy charge. A-16, 17.

Neither Mr. Haglund nor his expert, Stephanie Bloomfield presented any testimony that any of the excluded evidence would have rebutted any claims other than trespass. A-11, A-16, 17. In fact, Ms. Bloomfield's declaration does not

speak to causation at all. A-11. Ms. Bloomfield's statements address only her contention that Mr. Gribben fell below the standard of care. A-11. Whether Mr. Gribben complied with the standard of care was sharply controverted, CP 1050-52, and was irrelevant to the basis of the dismissal of this action, which was failure to prove causation. The trial court in the Underlying Action granted Mr. Gribben's motion for summary judgment because Mr. Haglund could not prove that he would have obtained a more favorable result but for Mr. Gribben's conduct.

The Court of Appeals reviewed and unanimously affirmed the trial court's decision. *See generally* Appendix. The Court of Appeals held that, even if Mr. Haglund had defeated the trespass claim, he had failed to provide any evidence that would have reversed the conspiracy claim, resulting in the same result in the Underlying Action:

Even if judgment on the trespass claim was vacated, the court still would have found that Haglund caused Pacific 5000's loss of equity in the

building and that the loss should be trebled under RCW 19.86.090 based on Haglund's conspiracies in restraint of trade.

Haglund failed to demonstrate he would have materially bettered his position on appeal but for Gribben's alleged malpractice during or after trial. For this reason, he has not established that he was damaged by loss of opportunity on appeal.

A-16-17.

Because Mr. Haglund offered no proof of actual damages resulting from the charging order, and because he lost no opportunity to improve his position on appeal, Mr. Haglund was not harmed by the charging orders, and therefore not harmed by Mr. Gribben's late filing of the supersedeas bond.

C. Other than 3320 MLK, LLC, Mr. Gribben had no attorney-client relationship with any of the named LLCs.

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